

Understanding Personal Directives

Government of Alberta ■



Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION2
What is a personal directive?2
Why is a personal directive necessary?2
Is a personal directive as important as a Will?2
Is a personal directive broader than a Living Will?3
What if I do not have a personal directive?3
A TIME WHEN YOU CANNOT
MAKE DECISIONS4
How do I plan ahead?4
WRITING YOUR PERSONAL DIRECTIVE 5
Who can make a personal directive?5
Is there a format I have to follow?5
Do I need a lawyer?6
What should I include in my personal directive?6
Practical Considerations6
CHOOSING SOMEONE TO MAKE DECISIONS
ON YOUR BEHALF – YOUR "AGENT"7
Who should I name as my agent?7
Can I appoint more than one person as my agent?7
What if I do not have friends or family who can be my agent?8
Do I have to name an agent?8
Can a person refuse to be my agent?8
What if I name more than one agent,
and they do not agree on a decision?9
Are agents paid?9
Can agents live outside Alberta?9
Can my agent access my personal information?10
What are the duties of an agent?10
When do the duties of an agent begin?10
When do the duties of an agent end?10
How does an agent make decisions?11
Is there anyone to help agents in making decisions?11
Will the actions of my agent ever be reviewed?11
Is my agent liable?11

Introduction

If something happened and you were unable to make decisions, who would make decisions about your medical care? Who would decide where you should live? Who would make your day-to-day personal decisions in a way that reflects your values and beliefs?

What is a personal directive?

A personal directive is a legal document, under the *Personal Directives Act*, that allows you to name the person(s) you trust to make decisions on your behalf should you lose mental capacity and list the areas in which they have decision-making authority (e.g., health care, residential issues). You can include instructions that you want followed (e.g., refuse blood products), as long as it does not include anything illegal, such as assisted suicide or euthanasia. You can also outline your wishes about other important personal matters like the temporary care and education of children under age 18.

The need for a personal directive may be short-term, such as when a serious illness leaves you unable to make decisions for a few days. However, in the event of serious brain injury or a progressive condition like Alzheimer's Disease, a personal directive may be required for the remainder of your life.

In Alberta, writing a personal directive is a choice. You are not required to have one and it is voluntary.

Personal directives are not just for seniors. Anyone over the age of 18 may choose to write a personal directive. It is a relatively simple document that you can write yourself.

Planning for your future is one of the best investments you can make – for you and your family. It is a gift of love to everyone involved and reduces uncertainty during a time of crisis.

Why is a personal directive necessary?

If you want to choose who your decision maker is, write a personal directive, and name an agent. Otherwise, under the *Adult Guardianship and Trusteeship Act*, a health care provider may select a nearest relative to make decisions for a person who is assessed as being incapable of providing informed consent for health care or temporary residential placement.

Is a personal directive as important as a Will?

Most people are aware of how important it is to have a Will, but did you realize that it's just as important to write a personal directive?

Unlike a Will, which takes effect after you die, a personal directive guides personal decisions

that are made on your behalf while you are still living – when you can no longer make decisions on your own.

These decisions can dramatically affect your quality of life, such as where you live, how you spend your day and who takes care of your minor children.

Is a personal directive broader than a Living Will?

Sometimes personal directives are confused with Living Wills, which provide instructions regarding end-of-life decisions, such as whether you wish to be resuscitated.

While the *Personal Directives Act* does not use the term "Living Will"; a Living Will, provided it meets the legal requirements in the Act, is a personal directive that addresses one specific issue only: end-of-life decisions. It is important to remember that many decisions may need to be made should you lose the ability to make your own decisions.

it is not necessary to have a Living Will and a personal directive; you can include instructions regarding end-of-life decisions in your personal directive. However, unlike a Living Will, a personal directive also lets you name someone who can make any personal decisions on your behalf.

With a personal directive, you are not just leaving instructions regarding your death – you are creating instructions regarding your life!

What if I do not have a personal directive?

If you do not have a personal directive and you lose the ability to make decisions, physicians, nurse practitioners and dentists (for dental care only) may select a family member from a ranked list to make some health care or placement decisions on your behalf.

If your ability to make decisions is affected permanently, your family may have to apply to the court to become your guardian.

A personal directive allows you and your family to avoid this uncertainty. If you lose the ability to make decisions, the person you name in your personal directive as your agent can begin acting on your behalf and according to the instructions in your directive.

A time when you cannot make decisions

How do I plan ahead?

No one likes to think about it, but when you state your wishes in a format that is legally recognized, you gain some control over your future. You also ease the stress of those who are closest to you if and when these documents are needed.

If you wish to plan in advance, you may want to:

- write a personal directive (for non-financial matters);
- write a supported decision-making authorization (for personal matters);
- write an enduring power of attorney (for financial matters); and
- write a Will (to plan for the disposition of financial and personal assets after death).

Similar to the other documents listed, writing a personal directive is a choice; you are not required by law to have one.

If you choose not to prepare these documents in advance and you can no longer make decisions, the Court will:

- appoint a guardian for non-financial matters; and
- appoint a trustee for financial matters.

If you die without a Will, the Court will disperse your financial and personal assets according to the *Intestate Succession Act*. Your estate will go to your relatives. If the Court is unable to find relatives, the estate will go to the Province, which pays the income to Alberta universities.

	Decisions made by you	Decisions made by the Court
while you are alive		
Personal decisions	Personal Directive:	Co-decision-making: Co-decision Maker Guardianship: Guardian
Financial decisions	Enduring Power of Attorney: Attorney	Trusteeship: Trustee
after death		
Financial assets	Will: Executor	Intestate Succession Act: Administrator

Writing your Personal Directive

Who can make a personal directive?

Any Albertan 18 years of age or older may make a personal directive if they understand the nature and effect of having a personal directive.

A person may have a cognitive disability but still have the capacity to write a personal directive. It is presumed that everyone has the capacity to make a personal directive, unless they have been declared incapable under the Personal Directives Act or the Adult Guardianship and Trusteeship Act.

Is there a format I have to follow?

A personal directive is easy to write. You can download a standard form from **www.seniors.alberta.ca/opg** or call the office of the Public Guardian toll free at **1-877-427-4525** to request that a form be mailed to you. You don't have to use the standard form but it's a helpful tool.

You do not have to follow a specific format when writing a personal directive in Alberta.

To be considered a legal document, the requirements are that your personal directive must be:

- in writing (by hand, typed or by computer);
- dated:
- signed by you (in the presence of a witness). If you are physically unable to sign the directive, another person must sign on your behalf in the presence of a witness; and
- signed by a witness (in your presence).

The following persons may **not** witness the signing of a personal directive:

- any person you have selected to make decisions on your behalf – called your "agent";
- the spouse or adult interdependent partner of your agent;
- your spouse or adult interdependent partner; and
- the person who signs the directive on your behalf, if you are physically unable, or their spouse or adult interdependent partner.

Although it is not a legal requirement to do so, it is a very good idea to give a copy of the directive to your agent, physician and to other service providers with whom you are involved (e.g., the director of the nursing home where you live).

Do I need a lawyer?

It is not necessary to use a lawyer to write a personal directive. However, you may wish to consult a lawyer, your family physician, spiritual advisor or any other person who you feel would help you make your instructions clear.

If you have questions as you prepare to write your personal directive, please call the Office of the Public Guardian at **1-877-427-4525**.

What should I include in my personal directive?

Your personal directive can designate your agent(s) and their areas of authority (e.g., your daughter makes decisions regarding health care and your spouse decides where you will live). Your directive can also contain instructions regarding personal, non-financial matters.

However, you may consider allowing some flexibility in these instructions to allow for changes in technology or in your circumstances. For instance, the names of medications, types of treatments or equipment used may change over time.

Your instructions guide big decisions about issues that are important to you, like medical treatments you would or would not want.

You may also indicate who you want to temporarily care for and educate your minor children if you are no longer capable of doing so, or who should be reviewing the decision of your agents.

Practical Considerations

You may want to include:

- a title that indicates the document is a personal directive;
- your name;
- the name(s) of the person(s) you choose to make decisions on your behalf. This person(s) is called your "agent";
- the areas of decision-making authority your agent will have (see page 12); and
- any specific instructions you may have regarding:
 - » how the agent makes decisions (e.g., they consult with other family members);
 - » who should make a determination about your capacity;
 - » whom to notify when you can no longer make decisions and when the directive takes effect;
 - » if you want to restrict access to personal information from family or others; and
 - whether you want your agent to be paid for carrying out their duties and/or reimbursed for any related expenses they incur.

You must include a place for the date, your signature and the witness' signature at the bottom of the document. It is a good idea to ask your witness to also print their name because a signature is often not easy to read.

The standard personal directive form provides guidance on the areas outlined above.

Choosing someone to make decisions on your behalf – your "agent"

Who should I name as my agent?

An agent is the person you name in your personal directive to make personal decisions on your behalf.

An agent must:

- be 18 years of age or older at the time the personal directive takes effect; and
- have the mental capacity to make decisions on your behalf.

It is a good idea to ask them directly if they are willing to assume this responsibility in the future, if required.

You should choose someone you trust to be your agent – not necessarily a family member whom has traditionally assumed this role. Your agent will make decisions on your behalf that are highly sensitive, so choose someone who understands your values and beliefs and who will act in your best interests.

You may have confidence in your physician, the head of the nursing home in which you live or another service provider. However, naming these people as your agent should be considered carefully. By naming service providers, you may place them in a position of conflict of interest. This may be unfair to both you and the person named.

Before writing your legal document remember to first ask your proposed agent(s) if they wish to be named, and discuss your values and beliefs with them. When your agent(s) have agreed to act on your behalf, it is a good idea to give them a copy of your personal directive. You can have peace of mind knowing that your agent can provide your legal document to a service provider quickly and be able to clarify the instructions in it.

Can I appoint more than one person as my agent?

You can appoint more than one person as your agent. Here are some options:

you can name a primary agent and one or more alternate agents. An alternate agent makes decisions on your behalf only if the primary agent is unwilling or unable. If you have more than one alternate agent, they act in the order in which they are named in the personal directive. To avoid confusion be very clear about the ranking of your agent (i.e., Primary agent, first alternate agent...);

- you may appoint agents jointly, each having equal authority. This means they must consult with each other and agree upon decisions; and
- you may appoint different agents for different areas of authority. For example, you could name your sibling as an agent with authority to make health care decisions, and you could name your spouse with authority to make all other personal decisions.

What if I do not have friends or family who can be my agent?

If you do not have family or friends who are willing and able to be your agent:

- you may appoint someone by office or position (e.g., the executive director of an association) as your agent, without providing a specific name, as long as the office or position is not providing a service to you;
- if the office or position is providing a service to you, you can appoint your service provider if you provide their given name. For example, if you are a resident at a nursing home, you can appoint "Jane Doe," who is the executive director. You cannot appoint "the executive director;" and
- as a last resort, if there is no one else able and willing, you can ask the Public Guardian to act as your sole agent. You must consult with the Public Guardian. and the Public Guardian must agree to act as your sole agent. You also need to provide the Public Guardian with a copy of your personal directive and any updates that follow. The Public Guardian may also request information about your personal directive at other times, as necessary. For more information, please call the Office of the Public Guardian nearest you (offices are listed at the end of this booklet) or call the Office of the Public Guardian toll-free at 1-877-427-4525.

Do I have to name an agent?

You do not have to name an agent in your personal directive. In this situation, the personal directive should contain specific instructions to help guide decisions made on your behalf. For example, if you do not want to have blood transfusions, you would write this in your personal directive so health care providers are clear about your wishes.

There is real value in naming an agent – someone you trust – who can make decisions in situations you did not anticipate.

Can a person refuse to be my agent?

The person you name as your agent can refuse this responsibility at any time. That is why it is important to ask them directly if they are able and willing to act before you name them in your personal directive.

You should also discuss your wishes, values and beliefs with your agent so they know what you want, and they can decide if they are prepared to accept this responsibility.

For example, if you have children who are minors, you should discuss your wishes for the temporary care and education of your children with your agent.

If the person you named as your agent refuses to assume this role or refuses to make a decision, an alternate agent named in your personal directive may act.

If you have not named an alternate agent:

- service providers, such as physicians, lawyers and other health care professionals, can follow any clear instructions in the personal directive relevant to the circumstance;
- if no instructions are available, the service provider must inform the nearest relative, legal representative (e.g., attorney or trustee) or the Office of the Public Guardian, in that order:
- in a medical emergency, a health care practitioner can provide medical services without consent. However, the health care practitioner must inform either the nearest relative or legal representative as soon as possible. If these people cannot be reached, the Office of the Public Guardian must be contacted; and
- family or friends or the Public Guardian, as a last resort, may apply to the Court to become your legal guardian when there is no agent at all who is willing and able to act on your behalf.

What if I name more than one agent, and they do not agree on a decision?

If you appoint more than one agent with equal authority in the same areas (joint agents), be very clear how any disagreement between your joint agents should be resolved. If the directive does not provide instructions about how to resolve disagreements, the *Personal*

Directives Act states that majority rules – the decision favoured by the majority of your agents must be followed.

If no majority can be reached, the agents may wish to discuss the situation with friends and family members or hire a neutral third party to mediate the dispute. The Office of the Public Guardian also offers limited conflict resolution services. Finally, the agents may seek direction from the Court.

Decisions about who will communicate decisions can sometimes be a tricky area, too. When agents are named jointly and they are unable to agree on who will communicate decisions (e.g., inform the doctor about what has been decided), the agent listed first in your personal directive is authorized to communicate decisions, unless you state otherwise.

Are agents paid?

An agent can be reimbursed for the costs of being an agent, but only if you state this in your personal directive.

Can agents live outside Alberta?

There are no restrictions on where the agent may live. However, it is important to consider the practical aspects of naming someone who lives far away from you, such as how they will consult with you prior to making a decision.

Can my agent access my personal information?

Unless you state otherwise, the agent has the right to access personal information and records relevant to the decisions being made. It is important for an agent to be properly informed, and able to access your personal information and relevant records, before they make a decision.

What are the duties of an agent?

An agent must:

- consult with you before making decisions to ensure that you contribute to the extent that you are able. The intent is to give you as much input into your own decisions as possible;
- make personal decisions on your behalf in accordance with your clear instruction provided;
- when your personal directive does not contain clear instructions, the agent must make decisions that the agent believes you would have made in the circumstances, based on your agent's knowledge of your wishes, beliefs and values;
- if your agent does not know what your wishes, beliefs and values are, then a decision can be made that the agent believes to be in your best interest; and
- keep a record of all personal decisions made on your behalf. The agent must keep this record for the full time they have decision-making authority and for two years after their authority ceases. They may be asked to provide this record to you, your

lawyer or legal representative, or any other agent who also has the same authority.

Your agent also has a duty to consider your capacity on an ongoing basis and arrange for re-assessment of your capacity if you have appeared to regain capacity.

When do the duties of an agent begin?

Your agent has no legal authority to make decisions on your behalf until you have been declared incapable of making decisions and the personal directive has been activated for a specific area(s) of authority (i.e., ability to make health care decisions and residential decisions) or for all personal matters. This means the proper forms have been signed saying you are incapable of making decisions in a specific area, such as health care or accommodation.

Your agent does not have any authority under the Act to make personal decisions on your behalf until the personal directive has been activated.

When do the duties of an agent end?

The responsibility of an agent ends when:

- you regain the capacity to make your own decisions;
- your personal directive includes a date or circumstance in which your directive is to be revoked or changed (e.g., you state in your directive that if you divorce, your spouse is no longer your agent);

- the Court determines the personal directive is no longer in effect or revokes the authority of the agent;
- your agent no longer wishes or is able to be an agent and resigns in writing; or
- you die.

How does an agent make decisions?

When an agent(s) makes a decision on your behalf, they have five responsibilities:

- confirm the personal directive is in effect;
- consult with you to ensure you are unable to give valid consent for this decision;
- follow any clear instructions provided in the personal directive;
- if no clear instructions are relevant to the situation, the decision must be what you would want, based on knowledge of your wishes, beliefs and values; and
- if the agent does not know your wishes, beliefs or values, a decision should be based on what is in your best interests.

Is there anyone to help agents in making decisions?

Agents are encouraged to consult with people who are knowledgeable in the area of concern, as well as those who may be affected by the decision, such as family and friends. The Office of the Public Guardian can also be a resource to provide information to agents.

Offices are listed at the end of this booklet.

Will the actions of my agent ever be reviewed?

You can write a specific instruction in your personal directive which outlines who is entitled to review the decisions of your agent. Whether or not you provide instructions about reviewing the decisions of your agent, anyone can make a written complaint about the actions of an agent to the Office of the Public Guardian if:

- the personal directive is in effect;
- an agent is failing to comply with the personal directive or the duties of an agent; and
- the failure is likely to cause harm to the physical or mental health of the maker.

Complaints will be screened and an investigation will be conducted if the situation warrants.

Alternatively, someone can apply to the Court to have the situation reviewed.

Is my agent liable?

If your agent acts in good faith while carrying out their authority, they are not considered liable for their decisions. However, if an agent wilfully destroys, conceals or alters a personal directive or a document revoking the personal directive, they can be prosecuted.

Areas of decision making authority

What kind of decisions can an agent make?

An agent can make decisions that are personal in nature and not related to financial matters. Making decisions means giving consent, refusing to give consent or withdrawing consent.

A personal matter is defined in the *Personal Directives Act* as being anything of a non-financial nature including:

- health care;
- accommodation;
- with whom the person may live and associate;
- participation in social activities;
- participation in educational activities;
- participation in employment activities;
- non-financial legal matters such as providing consent for the release of medical information; and
- any other personal matter.

Can I limit my agent's authority?

You have several options when deciding what authority to give your agent.

You can give your agent broad authority to make decisions for you, so they are able to handle any circumstances that arise. If you do not specifically list areas of authority for your agent, it is assumed that they have authority in all personal, non-financial areas. It is important that you explain your wishes, beliefs and values so they know and understand what you would want. Give them a copy of the directive so they can understand in advance what their responsibilities are.

Alternatively, you can limit the agent's authority to specific areas. Although it is possible to limit the authority of your agent, it is important to be aware that this means someone else may need to make certain decisions. For example, if you do not name an agent for non-financial matters, such as where you will live, and you lose mental capacity, the Court would appoint a guardian to make decisions in that area.

You may also name different agents with different areas of authority. For example, you could name your brother as agent with authority to temporarily care for and educate your children and give your sister authority to make all other personal decisions.

Are there any restrictions on an agent's decisions?

Even if there are instructions in the personal directive, the agent must not make decisions that are illegal (e.g., euthanasia or assisted suicide.)

Unless the personal directive provides clear instructions, the agent may not make decisions in the following areas:

- psychosurgery as defined in the Mental Health Act;
- sterilization that is not medically necessary to protect the person's health;
- removal of tissue for implantation in the body of another person or for medical education or research purposes; or
- participation in research or experimental activities if there is little or no potential benefit to the person.

When does a personal directive come into effect?

Your agent has no authority to make decisions until a determination of capacity has been completed. There are two ways in which that can happen:

You can name a person in your directive to assess your capacity. This person must consult with a physician or psychologist and complete a prescribed form. For instance you could name your agent to assess your capacity. In this instance, although your agent may not have any medical background, your

agent may be well positioned to see you on a day-to-day basis and to note that you are becoming confused and unable to make decisions.

If no one is named in the directive to assess capacity or the person named is unwilling or unable to carry out this task, two service providers, at least one of whom is a physician or psychologist, must do a capacity assessment and make a written declaration that the maker lacks capacity. The written record must be kept by the physician or psychologist.

A copy of the Declaration of Incapacity must be given to you, your agent and any other persons named in the directive. The agent must inform the nearest relative and legal representative (e.g., attorney) that the personal directive is in effect. See Guide to Capacity Assessment under the *Personal Directive Act* online at

www.seniors.alberta.ca/opg

Can I regain the right to make my own decisions?

Yes. Just as it is possible to lose the capacity to make decisions, it is possible to regain your capacity and right to make decisions. For example, you could recover from an accident or an illness that left you in a coma.

Understanding Personal Directives

There are several scenarios, depending on who makes the request to have your capacity re-assessed:

- you can request to have your capacity reassessed. However, your agent or service provider may refuse the request if they do not feel there has been a significant change in your capacity to make personal decisions:
- if your agent believes there has been a significant change in your capacity, they must consult with a service provider who provides health care services to you.
 The service provider must reassess your capacity in accordance with the regulations.
 When they agree with the opinion of the agent, both will sign a Determination of Regained Capacity form; and
- if a service provider who provides health care services to you believes there has been a significant change in your capacity, the service provider must consult with your agent and reassess your capacity in accordance with the regulations. When the service provider and the agent agree that you have regained capacity they will sign a Determination of Regained Capacity. If there is a dispute, then there must be a full assessment of capacity by two service providers, one of whom must be a physician or psychologist.

Information Card

You can make a card like this one and carry it with you, in case of an emergency.

You can also order a card by phoning the Office of the Public Guardian at

1-877-427-4525

Personal Directive Info	rmation Card		
have made a personal directive that expresses my wishes regarding personal matters.			
Signature	Date		
In case of emergency, please contact my agent to obtain a copy of my personal directive:			
Name(s)	Telephone		

Frequently Asked Questions

What if I want to change my personal directive?

As long as your personal directive is not yet in effect, you can revoke your personal directive and write a new one. Your new personal directive should state that you revoke the old one(s). It is a good idea to destroy the old directive so it is not mistaken for your new directive. Always give your agent(s) an up-to-date copy.

If you have named the Public Guardian as your sole agent, make sure that you give the Public Guardian a copy of your new directive.

Can I have more than one personal directive at a time?

Although it is unusual, some people have more than one personal directive. For example, you could write one personal directive that names your friend as an agent with authority to make decisions in one specific area. In a separate document, you could write a specific instruction about residential preferences if you are no longer able to stay in your own home. However, it is generally better to outline your wishes in one personal directive to avoid confusion.

Do I have to register my personal directive?

Registering your personal directive is easy, free and it is your choice – registration is optional.

It is a good idea to register your personal directive because it is another method for your doctor and other authorized health care providers to confirm that you have a personal directive and to contact your agent.

The Registry asks for personal information including:

- date you wrote the personal directive;
- contact information for your agent(s);
- your contact information; and
- if you have more than one agent, their order of priority.

The Registry does not keep a copy of your personal directive. Please do not send your personal directive to the Registry.

The information you provide is confidential, according to the *Freedom* of *Information and Protection of Privacy Act* and the *Health Information Act*. Only approved service providers will be able to access your information.

Understanding Personal Directives

It is your and your agents' responsibility to contact the Office of the Public Guardian to update information on the registry when any changes occur.

You can register and obtain additional information by going to

www.seniors.alberta.ca/opg/registry or by calling the Office of the Public Guardian toll-free at 1-877-427-4525

How long is a personal directive valid?

Unless you state otherwise in the document, your personal directive is valid until you revoke it and write a new one, or you die.

The Court can also review the personal directive and determine its validity or revoke the authority of the agent.

You may want to review your personal directive periodically to ensure it still meets your needs.

Who should I advise about my personal directive?

It is a good idea to tell people close to you that you have a personal directive and where it is located.

You should always ensure your agent(s) has an up-to-date copy, and you may also want to give a copy to your health care providers (e.g., family physician), family members, lawyer or spiritual advisor.

You can register your personal directive with the Office of the Public Guardian. This will ensure your agent(s) can be located in the event of an emergency. Registration is voluntary.

You may also wish to carry a wallet card that indicates you have a personal directive and lists the names and contact information of your agent(s).

What happens in a medical emergency if my agent is not available?

In a medical emergency, a health care practitioner can provide medical services without the consent of the agent(s) named in a personal directive.

If this happens, the health care practitioner must inform the agent(s) of the circumstances as soon as possible. If no agent has been appointed, then the nearest relative or legal representative must be informed of the circumstances. If there is no nearest relative, or legal representative, then the Office of the Public Guardian must be contacted.

Who owns a personal directive?

A personal directive is always the property of the maker – the person who wrote it.

You should give a copy to your agent(s) so they can easily access it in case of emergency. Depending on your instructions, all or parts of the personal directive may be shared with service providers involved in your care.

Can service providers require me to have a personal directive?

No. Under the *Personal Directives Act* it is an offence for a service provider (e.g., a continuing care centre) to require you to have a personal directive as a condition of obtaining residence or continuing as a resident. A person found guilty of this offence is liable to pay a fine of up to \$10,000.

What happens if someone, without my consent, wilfully conceals, destroys, or alters the personal directive?

According to the Act, it is an offence to do any of these things. A fine could be imposed of up to \$10,000.

Is a photocopy of the personal directive valid?

Yes, a photocopy is just as valid as the original. If the original is changed, copies of the old personal directive should be destroyed to avoid confusion.

Are personal directives from another province or country valid in Alberta?

If the personal directive from outside Alberta meets the criteria of the *Personal Directives Act* (it is written, signed, dated and witnessed appropriately), it does not matter where it was written.

What if I need help right now before I lose capacity?

You can write and sign a supported decisionmaking authorization, naming up to three people you trust to be your "supporters" and help you in the decision-making process.

For more information on supported decisionmaking authorization, go to **www.seniors**. **alberta.ca/opg/guardianship/options**

If someone asks me for help writing a personal directive, what should I do?

When helping someone write a personal directive, be careful not to unduly influence them to include specific instructions.

You may also suggest they consult a lawyer, physician or someone they trust to ensure their instructions are clear and the document has the legal effect he or she intends.

You can download a personal directive form at **www.seniors.alberta.ca/opg** or call the Office of the Public Guardian toll-free at **1-877-427-4525** to request that a form be mailed to you.

Other resources available for people planning a personal directive includes:

- educational materials in print, CD and DVD formats are available from the Office of the Public Guardian. You can order them online or call 1-877-427-4525 toll-free. Some materials are available in other languages (e.g., French, Chinese, German, Spanish, Punjabi, Cree, Blackfoot and Dene Tha); or
- organizations, such as regional health authorities and seniors groups, may have individuals to advise people about how to write personal directives.

What is an enduring power of attorney?

An enduring power of attorney is a legal document that allows you (the donor) to designate someone (an attorney) to make decisions about financial matters or property on your behalf while you are alive but are incapable of making these decisions.

An enduring power of attorney is a separate legal document with separate requirements. It cannot be included as part of your personal directive.

Although in Alberta a lawyer is not required to write an enduring power of attorney, it is a good idea to consult with a lawyer when you write your enduring power of attorney.

Definitions

The Act: the *Personal Directives Act*, which came into effect in 1997 and was amended in 2008.

Agent: a person designated in a personal directive to make personal decisions on behalf of the maker

Capacity: the ability to understand the information that is relevant to the making of a personal decision and the ability to appreciate the reasonably foreseeable consequences of the decision

Maker: a person who makes a personal directive

Nearest relative: means, with respect to any person, the relative of that person first listed in the following subclauses, relatives of the whole blood being preferred to relatives of the same description of the half-blood and the elder or eldest of 2 or more relatives described in any subclause being preferred to the other of those relatives regardless of gender:

- i. spouse or adult interdependent partner;
- ii. son or daughter;
- iii. father or mother;
- iv. brother or sister;
- v. grandfather or grandmother;
- vi. grandson or granddaughter;
- vii. uncle or aunt:
- viii. nephew or niece:

Personal directive: a directive made in accordance with the *Personal Directives Act*.

Personal matter: means, subject to the regulations, any matter of a non-financial nature that relates to an individual's person and without limitation includes:

- i. health care;
- ii. accommodation;
- **iii.** with whom the person may live and associate;
- iv. participation in social, educational and employment activities;
- v. legal matters;
- **vi.** any other matter prescribed by the regulations;

Personal service: a service provided with respect to a personal matter;

Public Guardian: the Public Guardian appointed under the *Dependent Adults Act* or the *Adult Guardianship and Trusteeship Act*;

Psychosurgery: any procedure that, by direct or indirect access to the brain, removes, destroys or interrupts the continuity of histologically normal brain tissue, or that inserts indwelling electrodes for pulsed electrical stimulation for the purpose of altering behaviour or treating psychiatric illness, but does not include neurological procedures used to diagnose or treat intractable physical pain or epilepsy where those conditions are clearly demonstrable.

Understanding Personal Directives

Service provider: a person who carries on a business or profession that provides or who is employed to provide a personal service to an individual and when providing the service requires a personal decision from the individual before providing the service;

Significant change: an observable and sustained improvement that does not appear to be temporary.

Spouse: an adult's marriage partner or and adult's interdependent partner under Alberta law.

Where can I get more information?

Website

www.seniors.alberta.ca/opg

The Seniors and Community Supports website includes publications in several languages that you can read online or print. You can also listen to the audio version.

Telephone

Office of the Public Guardian:

1-877-427-4525 (toll-free)

Staff with the Office of the Public Guardian can answer your questions about personal directives and provide details about information sessions being held in your area.

Law Society of Alberta's

Lawyer Referral Service: 1-800-661-1095

You do not need a lawyer to write a personal directive. However, if you want to seek legal advice and do not know a lawyer, the Law Society will provide you with the names of three lawyers. There is no charge for the first half-hour interview, after which you can decide whether or not to engage the lawyer at the full fee rates, and the lawyer can decide whether to accept the engagement.

Visit

The Office of the Public Guardian has offices across the province. They are open Monday to Friday from 8:15 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.

Grande Prairie	780-833-4319
St. Paul	780-645-6278
Edmonton	780-427-0017
Red Deer	403-340-5165
Calgary	403-297-3364
Lethbridge	403-381-5648
Medicine Hat	403-529-3744

For a copy of the *Personal Directives Act* or Personal Directives Regulations, please contact the Queen's Printer Bookstore. In Edmonton, call **780-427-4952**. In Calgary, call **403-297-6251**. For toll-free service in Alberta, dial **310-0000**. You can read legislation online at **www.qp.alberta.ca**

Government of Alberta ■

